# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 21-0723

# JACQUELINE SUE UHLER,

Plaintiff-Appellant

VS.

# THE GRAHAM GROUP, INC.,

Defendant-Appellee

# AMENDED APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW DECISION OF COURT OF APPEALS FILED ON JUNE 15, 2022

Jason D. Walke, Esq. AT0008236 WALKE LAW, LLC 1441 29<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 310 West Des Moines, Iowa 50266 Telephone: (515) 421-4026 Facsimile: (515) 216-2261

E-mail: jwalke@walkelaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

# QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR WHEN IT IGNORED CONTROLLING PRECEDENT FROM THIS COURT WHICH DIRECTS THAT A JURY SHOULD HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO DECIDE CAUSATION.

#

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

# I. SUMMARY

On October 16, 2017, Jacqueline Uhler ("Ms. Uhler") went to work at 1212 Pleasant Street ("the building") in Des Moines. (App. 8-11, 82-94, 114-115). The Graham Group, Inc. ("Graham") was the majority owner of the building (App. 8-15, 121-122, 155-156, 189, 207-214). Graham was responsible for the operation, maintenance and safety of the building (Id.).

On the afternoon in question (shortly after a Graham employee used a product called "DRAYNAMITE" on the 1<sup>st</sup> level), multiple people (including Ms. Uhler) from three different offices complained about fumes in the building (App. 125-140, 159-160, 215-225, 228-232, 245-247, 254-256, 261-264). At least eleven of those people (including Ms. Uhler) reported fumes that made them sick and an entire clinic was closed due to the presence of fumes (Id.).

Fumes from DRAYNAMITE pose a danger of the exact injury claimed by Ms. Uhler as well as the symptoms voiced by numerous other people in the building (App. 117-118, 128, 164, 195, 215-225, 265-270). Furthermore, the only known use of a dangerous chemical in the building that day was Graham's use of DRAYNAMITE just before people began to complain about fumes that made them sick (App. 117-208). Beside Graham's use of DRAYNAMITE just before fumes

were noticed above where that use took place, there was no evidence suggesting any other possible source for fumes in the building (App. 8-390, 427-491).

In addition to admitting that it used DRAYNAMITE in the building on the day in question and that multiple people complained of being made sick by fumes after that usage, Graham actually admitted it was the use of DRAYNAMITE that caused there to be fumes in the building (App. 117-119, 125, 127, 138, 140, 142, 144, 159-161, 174, 176-179, 188-195, 199, 232-233, 254-256, 261). That is, Graham admitted the fact the District Court and the Court of Appeals said Ms. Uhler could not prove: that her injuries were caused by fumes resulting from the use of DRAYNAMITE (Id.). Furthermore, records and opinions from multiple doctors support the conclusion that Ms. Uhler was injured by DRAYNAMITE fumes in the building on the day in question (App. 271-323, 384-390, 427-450).

# II. FACTS ABOUT MS. UHLER

Ms. Uhler is a 78 year old widow with two children including a special needs child for whom she is the primary caregiver (App. 8-11, 115-116). On the day in question Ms. Uhler was at work in the Children's Pediatric Clinic on the 4<sup>th</sup> level of the building (App. 8-11, 114-116, 125, 159-160, 169-170, 215-225, 262-264).

In the afternoon of the day in question, after the use of DRAYNAMITE by Graham on the 1<sup>st</sup> level, Ms. Uhler complained about and was made ill by fumes in her work area (App. 8-11, 114-119, 129-140, 160-170, 215-225, 289-323, 384-390,

427-450). Those fumes were noted by Ms. Uhler and other people at various places in the building all of which were above where DRAYNMITE had been used (App. 8-11, 114-119, 129-140, 160-170, 215-264). The fumes were described as "harsh", "chemically" and like "rotten eggs" all of which are common descriptions of the fumes generated by DRAYNAMITE and its chemical ingredient sulfuric acid (App. 115-119, 215-264, 349-358). Multiple people, in addition to Ms. Uhler, complained the fumes made them sick (App. 215-264).

As of the day in question Ms. Uhler had been diagnosed with asthma but that condition was well controlled and Ms. Uhler was an active person who walked recreationally on a regular basis and enjoyed things like "taking the stairs" at work and working out at the gym (App. 115-116, 289-323, 384-390, 427-450). According to her doctors, as a result of her exposure to fumes on the day in question, Ms. Uhler's asthma has markedly worsened and her ability to breath, speak and be active has been made much more difficult which will be true for the rest of her life (App. 271-323, 384-390, 427-450). The same doctors also noted that Ms. Uhler's pre-existing asthma made her more susceptible to injury from exposure to DRAYNAMITE fumes than someone without that condition (App. 289-323, 384-390, 427-450).

### III. FACTS ABOUT GRAHAM AND THE BUILDING

Graham was the majority owner of the building and, as such, was responsible for its maintenance and operation (App. 8-15, 121-122, 155-156, 189, 191-192). The maintenance staff was manager Toby George and laborers Brad Grismore and Kevin Zimmerman (App. 65-66, 122-124, 155-158, 188-191). Graham executive Jeff Hatfield was Mr. George's supervisor (App. 155-156, 188-191). Only Messrs. George and Grismore were involved in the occurrences on the day in question (App. 65-66, 120-206). The above-named persons were all Graham employees (Id.).

# IV. FACTS ABOUT THE DAY IN QUESTION AND GRAHAM'S USE OF DRAYNAMITE IN THE BUILDING THAT DAY

Early in the afternoon on the day in question, after being told by Mr. George of a call from a tenant about a clogged sink on the 1<sup>st</sup> level, Mr. Grismore poured DRAYNAMITE, out of the bottle without measuring it, into standing water in that sink (App. 117-119, 129-140, 155-156, 160-170). Mr. Grismore did not identify the cause of the clog and Graham could never identify that cause or explain how it reacted with DRAYNAMITE such that, according to Mr. George, "fumes started to spread" through the building (App. 133, 195, 261).<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Messrs. George and Grismore were involved in the remediation efforts on the day in question while Mr. Hatfield was in charge of the later effort to identify the cause of those fumes (App. 129-140, 160-70, 188-195).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Grismore's use of DRAYNAMITE was, in a number of ways, contrary to the Material Safety Data Sheet for DRAYNAMITE. The following warnings/directions were ignored by Mr. Grismore: "use in a well-ventilated area", "wear protective

Shortly after Mr. Grismore's use of DRAYNAMITE, a tenant on the 3<sup>rd</sup> level called Mr. George and complained about "funny odors" (App. 117-119, 136-138, 160-170). Mr. George then got a call from another tenant (on the 4<sup>th</sup> level where Ms. Uhler worked) complaining of fumes that were making people sick (App. 8-11, 115-116, 160-70).

In response to those complaints, Mr. George called Mr. Grismore and, after finding out about his use of DRAYNAMITE, those men immediately went to the bathroom where that product had been used (App. 117-119, 128-140, 160-70). Initially, Graham's interrogatory answer said that, before getting to the 1<sup>st</sup> level to meet Mr. Grismore, Mr. George could smell "a funny odor" on the 2<sup>nd</sup> level by the elevator (App. 117-119). However, by the time of Mr. George's deposition, Graham changed that story and Mr. George said he first smelled DRAYNAMITE, through a closed door to a room where the ventilation was "working", in a hallway on the 1<sup>st</sup> level (App. 160-170).

After the odor complaints from tenants, and being able to smell DRAYNAMITE either through a closed door as he neared the room with the clogged

gloves, protective clothing, eye protection and face protection", "wear respiratory protection", "wash face, hands and any exposed skin thoroughly after handling", "do not flush into surface water or sanitary sewer system", "avoid breathing vapors, mist or gas", "local ventilation is suggested to control exposure from operations that can generate significant levels of vapor, mist or fumes", "chemical googles and a face shield should be worn when handling" and "reacts violently with water" (App. 129-140, 265-270, 349-358).

sink or on the 2<sup>nd</sup> level by the elevator, Mr. George and Mr. Grismore sprang into action in an attempt to "air out" the building....something they had never done in their over forty combined years of working for Graham (App. 117-119, 125-140, 159-170). Mr. George, using a computer that controlled air flow in the building, altered that air flow thereby manipulating the "recirculation" of air that was already in the building (Id.). Mr. George and Mr. Grismore also went through the building opening doors and placing fans in various places in furtherance of their never before attempted effort to alter the "recirculation" of the air in the building (Id.).

During discovery Graham said "all remnants of any smell were out of the building within approximately 10 minutes of it being reported" (App. 117-119). However, in a communication with a tenant the next day, Mr. George said it took "about ½ hour" to air out the building (App. 261). Also, several people noted that odors were still detectable in the building the next day (App. 215-225, 262-263, 366-367). Finally, Graham admitted that it actually had no idea how long it took to rid the building of the illness causing fumes that were complained about by multiple persons on (and even after) the day in question (App. 117-119, 141, 175, 261).

During discovery Graham gave multiple answers as to "how much" DRAYNAMITE Mr. Grismore used on the day in question. Graham's Answer to Interrogatory No. 8 listed the amount as "about a cup" (App. 117-119). Mr. George testified Mr. Grismore told him he used "a cup" (App. 167). Mr. Grismore's

deposition testimony was that he used "half a bottle" (App. 133). Finally, in paragraph 19 of the Statement of Undisputed Facts offered in support of its summary judgment motion, Graham said Mr. Grismore "could" have used "up to two cups" (App. 30).

# V. FACTS ABOUT DRAYNAMITE AND ITS CAUSATIVE ROLE IN MS. UHLER'S INJURIES

The chemical ingredient in DRAYNAMITE is sulfuric acid and an odor commonly used to describe sulfuric acid is "rotten eggs" (App. 265-270, 349-358). Mr. Grismore admitted he did not smell rotten eggs until after his use of DRAYNAMITE on the day in question (App. 135). Other people reported that same smell in the building only after Mr. Grismore's use of DRAYNAMTE and there was no evidence of any other explanation for that odor in the building that day (App. 115-116, 135, 170, 215-225, 228-230, 262-264). Furthermore, and as Graham admitted, exposure to DRAYNAMITE fumes can unquestionably cause serious injury including aggravation of conditions like asthma; which is exactly what happened to Ms. Uhler (according to her doctors) because of her exposure to fumes in the building on the day in question (App. 142-143, 177, 197-198, 265-270, 289-323, 349-358, 384-390, 427-450).

Daniel Dodge, D.O. ("Dr. Dodge") and Jacqueline Stoken, D.O. ("Dr. Stoken"), both of whom were designated as experts and whose reports were made available to Graham in a timely manner, opined that the permanent worsening of

Ms. Uhler's asthma was due to her being exposed to DRAYNAMITE fumes on the day in question (App. 16-18, 289-323). In addition to those opinions (from doctors the District Court said were qualified to opine on the cause of Ms. Uhler's injuries), Drs. Dodge and Stoken both also opined that, because of her underlying asthma, Ms. Uhler was more susceptible to permanent increased injury from exposure to DRAYNAMITE fumes than someone who did not have that condition (App. 289-323, 481-460).

In addition to the opinions of Drs. Dodge and Stoken, records of other doctors Ms. Uhler saw support the conclusion that she was injured by exposure to DRAYNAMITE fumes in the building (App. 271-288, 384-390, 427-450). Like Drs. Dodge and Stoken, the District Court had the records of those doctors before it when it granted summary judgment (Id.). However, unlike Drs. Dodge and Stoken, the District Court (and the Court of Appeals) simply ignored what the records of those other doctors said (App. 451-460).

Ms. Uhler saw Dr. Daphney Myrtil on October 18<sup>th</sup> and 26<sup>th</sup>, 2017 (App. 384-390). Dr. Myrtil's records provide support for the conclusion that Ms. Uhler was injured by exposure to chemical fumes at work on the day in question (Id.). The record from October 18, 2017 says "exposed to fumes in the building... presents...following exposure to what she describes as a cleaning agent...was just doing her job and she noticed a very nasty rotten egg smell..." (App. 384-387).

The first specialist Ms. Uhler saw after the day in question was Dr. Gregory Hicklin (who died in 2018 after which Dr. Dodge took over as Ms. Uhler's pulmonologist). Dr. Hicklin's records also support the conclusion that Ms. Uhler suffered injury due to exposure to chemical fumes in the building on the day in question (App. 271-288, 427-444). A record from November 29, 2017 states "in mid-October, she was exposed to a hydrogen sulfide episode due to a spill or accident in the basement below where she works. Many people were evacuated" (App. 427-432). A record from January 19, 2018 states "has a history of asthma but was doing well until she was exposed to fumes at the workplace. There was an incident where multiple people were exposed, and she has had problems since then" (App. 433-438).

# VI. FACTS PROVING GRAHAM HAS ADMITTED IT WAS THE USE OF DRAYNAMITE THAT CAUSED THERE TO BE INJURY CAUSING FUMES IN THE BUILDING ON THE DAY IN QUESTION

In the history of the building, and the experiences of the Graham employees who were involved in the matters at issue, there has never been a day, other than the day in question, when (a) multiple occupants of a building were made sick by fumes; (b) an entire office was closed due to illness causing fumes in a building; or (c) efforts were made to try to "air out" an entire building due to complaints of illness causing fumes (App. 125, 127, 138, 140, 142, 159-161, 174, 191, 261, 372-381). Furthermore, each Graham employee who had any involvement with the matters at

issue admitted that they had no explanation for the illness causing fumes in the building other than the admitted use of DRAYNAMITE therein.<sup>3</sup>

Graham listed Mr. George as an expert and said that, as such, he was qualified to testify about air movement in the building (App. 19-22). That is significant because Mr. George told several people that the fumes in the building on the day in question were caused by the use of DRAYNAMITE on the 1<sup>st</sup> level (App. 232-233, 254-256, 261). In other words, Graham identified as its expert on the topic of air flow in the building someone who literally told people that the fumes in the building on the day in question were caused by the use of DRAYNAMITE that day (the very fact the District Court and the Court of Appeals ruled Ms. Uhler could not prove).

More specifically, Unity Point employee Andrea Fetters (a supervisor who fielded complaints from persons who said that fumes made them sick) testified that (App. 232-233):

"What...explanation...have you been given...about...there being fumes in the building that were making people feel unwell? What I recall is that there was something that was disposed of in the drain...they had poured something

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> App. 144 (Brad Grismore): "Can you give me one specific plausible explanation for the complaints [about illness causing odors in the building on the day in question] other than your use of... DRAYNAMITE...in the basement...that day... No."; App. 176-177 (Toby George): "Can you offer any explanation for the complaints of the people who say they got sick on the day in question besides the use of chemicals in the basement...No, I cannot." and App. 177-178: "Can you give me a single specific plausible explanation for the complaints...other than the use of DRAYNAMITE in the building that day? No, I can't."; and App. 199 (Jeff Hatfield): "Do you have a single plausible specific explanation for what happened that day that does not involve the use of DRAYNAMITE in the basement? I don't."

down the drain...So in terms of what you recall being told by [Graham] about the cause of all this was they had poured something down the drain? Yes. Do you remember who told you that? Toby George. Did he tell that to you that day or afterward? That day...Have you been given any other explanation, either that day or since, by anyone...about why these fumes were in the building in question on the day in question? Not that I recall."

Scott Draper (another Unity Point employee who was in direct contact with Graham about the fumes) testified (App. 254-256):

"What did you learn from Toby about what caused the incident...[T]hat there was a cup of drain cleaner poured into a basement sink drain, and it resulted in fumes. And the source of that information was Toby George? Yes."

Finally, the day after the incident Mr. Draper sent an email to other Unity Point employees which said (App. 261):

"I spoke with Toby and he'll put together a synopsis of the timeline for the 1212 incident. It was just his staff that were involved. Poured about 1 cup of drain cleaner in a basement sink drain. Fumes started to spread...."

In addition to those examples of Mr. George admitting that the source of the fumes was DRAYNAMITE, Mr. Hatfield, Graham's Senior Vice President of Medical Properties who was involved in identifying the source of the fumes in the building, came to the same conclusion (App. 188-195). Specifically, Mr. Hatfield testified that, after talking to Mr. George, various tenants and the plumbing contractor used by Graham, his conclusion was that the fumes were caused by DRAYNAMITE (App. 193: "In my opinion, the chemical was part of what caused problems..."). After that, Graham stopped using DRAYNAMITE due to the conclusion that it was the source of the fumes on the day in question (App. 194-195:

"So the next logical thing is let's not use [DRAYNAMITE]. I don't ever want to have a second one of these.").

Finally, and very much consistent with the foregoing, in its answer to an interrogatory asking for an explanation of the events in question, Graham described Mr. Grismore's usage of DRAYNAMITE and the efforts of Messrs. George and Mr. Grismore to address the fumes they felt were caused by that usage (App. 117-119). In other words, it was Graham that identified Mr. Grismore's use of DRAYNAMITE as the source of the fumes in the building in question on the day in question. Only after realizing the importance of that admission did Graham (or, more accurately, its legal counsel) begin to dispute that the presence of fumes in the building on the day in question was caused by the use of DRAYNAMITE.

#### ARGUMENT

"Causation is a question for the jury save in very exceptional cases where the facts are so clear and undisputed, and the relation of cause and effect so apparent to every candid mind, that but one conclusion may be fairly drawn..." Thompson v. Kaczinski, 774 N.W.2d 829, 836 (Iowa 2009). Causation, like any other fact, can be proven by direct and circumstantial evidence and neither is more or less conclusive than the other. Walls v. Jacob N. Printing, 618 N.W.2d 282, 285 (Iowa 2000); see also Rauch v. Des Moines Elec. Co., 206 Iowa 309, 218 N.W. 340, 342 (1928) ("proof of 'causal connection' [between complained of behavior and alleged

damages] may be by...direct or circumstantial evidence"). Finally, "to determine whether the defendant...caused the plaintiff's harm...the defendant's conduct is a cause in fact of the plaintiff's harm if, but-for the defendant's conduct, that harm would not have occurred..." <u>Garr v. City of Ottumwa</u>, 846 N.W.2d 865, 869-70 (Iowa 2014).

I. BOTH THE DISTRICT COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN IGNORING <u>BLOOMQUIST</u> AND THE SUPPORT IT PROVIDES FOR THE CONCLUSION THAT THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO GENERATE A JURY QUESITON ON CAUSATION

In 1993 this Court decided <u>Bloomquist v. Wapello County</u>, 500 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 1993). <u>Bloomquist</u> has never been overturned and, on the contrary, it was cited with approval in the one Iowa case (<u>Ranes v. Adams Laboratories, Inc.</u>, 778 N.W.2d 677 (Iowa 2010)) relied on by the District Court and the Court of Appeals in support of their decision to decide causation as a matter of law. Simply put, <u>Bloomquist</u> is controlling authority which, when properly applied to the facts of this case, demonstrates that a jury question existed on causation.

Very much like this case, <u>Bloomquist</u> involved injuries allegedly caused to workers in an office building by exposure to dangerous chemicals that had been used in the building. After a jury verdict in favor of the plaintiffs, the trial court in <u>Bloomquist</u> took that verdict away by deciding the issue of proximate cause as a

matter of law (because the plaintiffs did not present "epidemiological evidence" of causation). In overturning that decision, this Court noted:

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