IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
NO. 21-0723

JACQUELINE SUE UHLER,
Plaintiff-Appellant

vs.

THE GRAHAM GROUP, INC.,
Defendant-Appellee

RESISTANCE TO APPLICATION FOR
FURTHER REVIEW OF COURT OF
APPEAL'S DECISION FILED JUNE 15, 2022

James S. Blackburn, AT0000919
FINLEY LAW FIRM, P.C.
699 Walnut Street, Suite 1700
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
Telephone: (515) 288-0145
Facsimile: (515) 288-2724
Email: jblackburn@finleylaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF FILING AND SERVICE

I hereby certify:

Procedural Background

The District Court sustained Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on the basis that Plaintiff did not satisfy the requirement of initial proof by expert testimony, as a matter of law, after applying the facts to the law. The Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court's ruling. Plaintiff had not presented evidence of the toxicity level of fumes necessary to cause injury to a human, nor whether the fumes (assuming they did reach the third floor) would have existed at a toxicity level able to cause injury to Plaintiff where she was located over three floors away from the "about a cup" of drain opener poured into the basement restroom sink.

ARGUMENT

BRIEF POINT 1

THE SUPREME COURT SHOULD NOT ACCEPT FURTHER REVIEW
BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT ENTER A DECISION
IN CONFLICT WITH AN EXISTING SUPREME COURT DECISION

Applicant alleges that the Court of Appeals erred by entering a decision in conflict with an existing decision of this Court. That is not the case.

Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b)(1) notes that applications for further review will not be granted under normal circumstances. While not controlling the courts discretion to further review a case, Iowa R. App. P. 6.1103(1)(b)(1) notes that if a decision is in conflict with a prior decision on an important matter that such could

be of the character of the reason the court might review. However, that ground to consider granting further review does not exist.

Appellant suggests in her Application for Further Review that the Court of Appeals ignored Bloomquist v. Wapello County, 500 N.W. 2d 1,5 (Iowa 1993). That is not the situation. The Court of Appeals did not ignore the Bloomquist case. The Court gave appropriate consideration and correctly found that Bloomquist was distinguishable upon its facts.

The majority writing the Court of Appeals decision even noted this apparent contention and specifically discussed why the court found Bloomquist not to be controlling. The Court of Appeals noted,

“The dissent suggests that we have not adequately accounted for the supreme court’s ruling in Bloomquist v. Wapello County...”

The majority of the Court of Appeals then went on to discuss, in substantial detail, the distinguishing differences between Bloomquist and the case at bar. The majority noted that Bloomquist involved a situation where five workers sued Wapello County, claimed their illness was caused by a pesticide sprayed over and over in the building in which they worked in an effort to combat a flea problem (as well as by poor ventilation of sewer gas). The majority noted that in the Bloomquist case,

“The pesticide was sprayed throughout the building on a monthly basis into “cracks and crevices” and “when that didn’t work, the pesticide was “broadcast sprayed” in the building in addition to being sprayed in cracks and crevices”.

The majority further distinguished the facts of Bloomquist,

“The pesticide was sprayed over the carpet while workers were still in the building, in violation of established standards of care; it was sprayed on the papers on workers desks; and workers who were gone when the spraying occurred were allowed to return to the building while the carpet was still wet with pesticide.”

In fact, the majority noted that with regard to testing,

“Bloomquist had the benefit of tests done on the carpet several months after it was sprayed, which revealed remaining residue of the pesticide, even after the carpet was shampooed.”

The Court of Appeals opinion noted, that in the instant, Uhler, case,

“...we have a much different situation with a one-time use of a small but unknown quantity of a chemical a long distance away from where Uhler is alleged to have ingested the fumes and been injured,” (Underlining added by this writer).

This writer would further factually note that the record, in the case at bar, shows at Exhibit 25, (App. P. 366), an email from Tim Neal to Scott Draper (Neil being the former safety coordinator at UnityPoint Des Moines, who reported to Scott Draper, the environmental risk manager and safety officer at UnityPoint Health Des Moines (App. p. 253)), dated October 17, 2017, that states,

“Kolleen Dahl, Emergency Preparedness Coordinator and I just went to the Pulmonary Clinic on the second floor as well as the Peds Clinic on third floor. Andrea Feters, Manager, joined us. Jay Bisset was also made aware of our findings.

The atmospheric oxygen in all exam rooms, offices, restrooms and other areas, of both clinics, maintained at 20.9%. “Normal” is 21%.

The air monitor did not alarm on anything including hydrogen sulfide, CO, LEL or oxygen deficiency. All is good. At Andreas request I circulated through and talked with employees and showed the air monitor at 20.9 and emphasized all was ok. I suspected the odor people are smelling is residual from the deodorizing spray Graham used on some of the carpeted areas.” Exhibit 25, (App. P. 366)

The “Peds Clinic on the third floor”, where the report on the testing found that “all is good”, is right where Uhler worked.

That prompt testing that found no indication of hydrogen sulfide additionally distinguishes the Bloomquist case. While obviously not conclusive, this evidence illustrates why expert toxicological evidence would be required in the case at bar.

The evidentiary requirements for causation in toxic tort cases was clarified by this Court in the later, Ranes v. Adams Laboratories, Inc., 778 N.W.2d 677, (Iowa 2010), which was written 16 years after Bloomquist. Both the District Court and Court of Appeals properly relied upon and followed Ranes.

The Court of Appeals correctly noted, “We do not read Bloomquist to say that requiring expert testimony to establish that a plaintiff has been exposed to levels sufficient to cause the claimed injuries is never required.”

Seemingly putting Applicant's contention of ignoring Bloomquist to rest, the Court of Appeals wrote,

“The circumstances that exist here are sufficiently different from those presented in Bloomquist that we do not find Bloomquist controlling here, and Uhler's failure to present expert testimony to establish that she was exposed to levels of Draynamite sufficient to cause her injuries is fatal to her claim.”

There should be no question that the contentions that the Court of Appeals ignored Bloomquist is without merit.

What Plaintiff would have this court do is to ignore Ranes v. Adams Laboratories, Inc., 778 N.W.2d 677, (Iowa 2010).

BRIEF POINT 2

TO CLAIM RANES CITED BLOOMQUIST WITH APPROVAL IS TO MISCONSTRUE THE ISSUE THAT PRESENTS ITSELF IN THE CASE AT BAR.

The Applicant (as well as the dissent below) states Ranes cited Bloomquist with approval. The “citation” was only for a narrow proposition, not relevant to the resolution of this case. The following quotation is the only language from Ranes referencing Bloomquist in its 2010 decision,

“While there is no requirement that a medical expert cite published epidemiological studies on general causation to make a reliable conclusion, the methodology used by the expert becomes suspect when it is only supported by case reports of limited use to the medical field. See Bloomquist v. Wapello County, 500 N.W. 2d 1,5 (Iowa 1993).

That is hardly a statement claiming future courts should rely upon Bloomquist as setting the standard for causation; all the Supreme Court was saying in that sentence was that “epidemiological” evidence, while helpful, was not required. In fact, Bloomquist has not been cited in an Iowa toxic tort case since Ranes.

Defendant never claims that “epidemiological” evidence is required. Neither did either of the lower courts who have ruled in this case.

What Uhler, however, was required to do is to show that the fumes emitted from the use of “about a cup” of the drain opener poured into a clogged sink in the basement would have been at a concentration level able to cause injury to her where Uhler was when she claims to have noticed an odor.

BRIEF POINT 3

THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE REQUIREMENTS ANNOUNCED IN RANES V. ADAMS LABORATORIES, AS WELL AS WRIGHT V. WILLIAMETTE, BONNER V. ISP TECHS AND BLAND V. VERIZON WIRELESS CONTROLLED THIS TOXIC TORT CASE

Both the District Court and the Court of Appeals correctly applied the developed bifurcated standard adopted by the Iowa Supreme Court in Ranes v. Adams Laboratories, Inc., 778 N.W.2d 677, (Iowa 2010) when considering requirements of proof of causation in toxic tort cases.

The Court of Appeals did a deep dive into the existing law and requirements for causation proof in toxic tort case such as that brought by the Plaintiff.

The court of Appeals citation and explanation of the relevant toxic tort cases of Wright v. Willamette Indust., Inc., 91 F.3d 1105, 1107 (8th Cir. 1996), as well as Bonner v. ISP Techs., Inc., 259F3d 924, 928 (8th Cir. 2001), and Bland v. Verizon Wireless, (VAW) L.L.C., 538 F3d 893,897 (8th Cir. 2008) leave little doubt of the scholarly treatment of the Court's ruling. Additionally, the Court of Appeals noted, in its analysis, the law review article; David E. Bernstein, Getting to Causation in Toxic Tort Cases, 74 Brook. L. Rev. 51, 52-53 (2008).

This ability of the toxin to cause injury at that distance was the situation this court contemplated when considering the required causation analysis for toxic-tort actions. This Iowa Supreme Court considered these causation proof requirements in Iowa when, in 2010, it wrote:

“This bifurcated analysis has not been explicitly used as the standard in Iowa. However, due to its general acceptance among scholars and courts of other jurisdictions, as well as the relative ease of application the analysis offers to courts examining complex issues of causation, we believe it is appropriate for courts to use the bifurcated causation language in toxic-tort cases. In the toxic-tort case before us, both types of causation must be proven, and expert medical and toxicological testimony is unquestionably required to assist the jury. Ranes, at 688. (Underlining added by this writer).”

The District Court and Court of Appeals followed this bifurcated causation language as specified in Ranes. The Court of Appeals noted at page 5, footnote 1, of the opinion, in the case at bar that, “the law of causation in toxic torts explained in Ranes applies to Uhler’s toxic tort case”.

Both the District Court and Court of Appeals correctly applied the facts to the law when they ruled Plaintiff’s proof was deficient as a matter of law.

Whether fumes from “about a cup” of the liquid drain opener could cause injury to a human at a distance of over three floors in the building is crucial to the case.

Consider two analogies that involve common sense. It is easily understood that a spoonful of ammonia inhaled through one’s nose, placed directly under one’s nose, is a much different experience from the experience one might have walking into a room where a spoonful of ammonia lies on a table.

Consider also, this example. Assume one was sitting in the home team side at a large college football stadium. Assume further that, by some chance, someone sitting across the field in the stadium, on the visitor’s side, spilled about a cup Draynamite liquid drain opener. The fumes emitted from such a spill of about a cup of the drain opener would clearly dissipate and not be harmful by the time fumes

drifted across the football field. No rational person would conclude otherwise. For heavens sakes, Draynamite is a product made and sold to be used to unclog drains.

The Court of Appeals correctly noted that “Uhler must show the use of Draynamite, at the levels, used by Graham, is capable of causing her injuries.” (See Ruling, p. 6.) The Court wrote,

“To generate a fact question on specific causation, Uhler must produce evidence to allow a jury to find Graham’s use of Draynamite in the lower-level bathroom caused Uhler in her third-floor cubicle to be exposed to unsafe levels of Draynamite known to cause the kind of injuries she now claims. *See Wright*, 91 F.3d at 1107.” (Ruling p. 7.)

The Court correctly followed the law. There is no need for the Supreme Court to invoke further review. Two courts have reviewed the matter, and both are in agreement.

BRIEF POINT 4

PLAINTIFF’S EXPERTS DID NOT ESTABLISH THAT FUMES FROM THE DRAIN OPENER CAUSED INJURY TO PLAINTIFF.

There were numerous ways that Plaintiff failed to present expert testimony sufficient to avoid summary judgment.

As a starting point, the two doctors that Plaintiff seeks to elicit testimony from were not even listed as causation experts by the Plaintiff. The only witness listed by the Plaintiff as a causation expert was Dr. Hicklin, who offered no testimony. Dr.

Hicklin was designated as, "...his opinions will address causation...". (App. P. 16). Regarding Drs. Dodge and Stocken Plaintiff designated, "will express opinions relative to the treatment of Jacqueline..." (App. P. 16-17)

Neither Dr. Stocken, nor Dr. Dodge, even assuming the court would let them testify at trial on issues relating to causation, provided any evidence as to any quantity of the concentration level a fume from Draynamite would have to contain to cause injury to a human.

It is not enough for a witness to simply read a generic warning label that a product can cause injury and to use in a well-ventilated space and then to claim knowledge about the product's specific qualities. Neither doctor did any specific research into the toxicity qualities or the concept of dissipation of strength of the fumes in open air.

A causation expert must be able to testify as to how or why a toxin can cause injury. These are beyond the ability of common knowledge.

Not all exposure to fumes will cause injury. An expert in a case involving claims of injury from exposure to a toxin must be able to tell the court or jury that for a human it would take an exposure of X before injury can occur. Without that knowledge there is no way to ascertain whether a certain toxin is even capable of causing injury to a human.

Does a person need to be within an enclosed area before a person can be injured? How much of a toxin must be in the air before a toxin in air can cause injury? Is there a difference between the smell of a substance and the ability of a substance to cause injury? Can a toxin be smelled at a very low concentration level below the concentration level required of a substance to do harm? Neither Dr. Stocken, nor Dr. Dodge provided information on these matters.

Plaintiff was unable to even establish at what levels hydrogen sulfide within the air can cause injury to a human. Beyond that base consideration neither doctor was able to opine on what level of toxicity a fume originating at the basement level might retain if it traveled up to the third floor. Would such a toxin even be potentially harmful to humans at such range? How much toxin would about a cup of Draynamite poured into water in a sink be able to put into the air? In what size area of air could such an amount retain the ability to harm humans?

None of these fundamental topics were even noted by Plaintiff's witnesses.

Without such basic testimony and guidance, the court has no way to determine whether an airborne toxin could cause injury.

Plaintiff's Response to Summary Judgment was void of such information. Even these threshold questions were left with no answer.

Dr Stoken was hired to perform an IME upon the Plaintiff and only saw Uhler one time. Plaintiff filled out a number of questionnaires for Stoken. Plaintiff's report discusses Uhler's functionality, but gives no information on how much toxin is required for injury.

Likewise, Dr Dodge was a latecomer. Dr Dodge did not see Plaintiff until 3 years after incident (October 29, 2020) (App. P. 292 [from Stoken]) Dr Dodge actually only ever saw the plaintiff one time before the summary judgment. Plaintiff last saw Dr. Hicklin in June 2018. (App P. 270). Plaintiff did not even see Dr Dodge until October 29, 2020, more than 2 years later. It is a stretch to claim that Dr. Dodge "took over as Ms. Uhler's pulmonologist", as though to suggest a continuation of care. (Appellant's Amended Final Brief P. 22)

The question of causation is begged when Dr. Mytril, who saw the Plaintiff the closest after the alleged incident notes in her records on October 27, 2017, the following; "While she associates her symptoms to her recent hydrogen sulfide exposure, I believe that the likelihood of her symptoms being a result of a recent brief exposure to hydrogen sulfide are low". Interestingly this comment from Uhler's physician did not find it's way into Dr. Stoken's IME report. (App. P. 295).

The Court's below correctly decided this matter.

BRIEF POINT 5

DESPITE TWO ADVERSE RULINGS APPLICANT FAILS TO UNDERSTAND THAT THE CASE IS A TOXIC TORT CASE

The District Court and the Court of Appeals both described Applicant's lawsuit as a toxic tort case.

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